Non-GAAP Measures

A Roadmap for Audit Committees



MARCH 2018

Contents

Introduction	1
Key Themes from the CAQ's 2017 Roundtables	2
Why Companies Present Non-GAAP Measures	
Why GAAP is a Baseline	
Challenges Related to Non-GAAP Measures	
Standardization of Non-GAAP Measures	
Importance of Non-GAAP as a Communication Tool	
Addressing Judgment through Dialogue	
Recognizing the Vital Role of Audit Committee Oversight	
A Non-GAAP Roadmap for Audit Committees	5
Identify Key Discussion Topics	
Understand the External Auditor's Role Regarding Non-GAAP Measures	
Adopt Leading Practices	
Conclusion	7
Appendix: Roundtable Participants	8



Introduction

Investors have confidence in financial statements in part because of their consistency, reliability, relevance, and comparability. US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) provide the framework that supports these characteristics; however, investors also value certain non-GAAP financial measures and believe that, when presented appropriately, non-GAAP financial measures can provide additional insight into a company's results of operations, financial position, or liquidity.

Although long the subject of debate-even controversythe use of non-GAAP financial measures has been a top focus of securities regulators over the years. The US Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) staff issued guidance specific to the presentation of non-GAAP financial measures in filings and other company communications to investors.¹ Non-GAAP financial measures are explicitly defined by SEC regulations, and not all non-GAAP measures presented by companies will meet the SEC definition of a non-GAAP financial measure.² At the December 2017 AICPA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, SEC staff members indicated that the SEC was seeing improvements in the presentation of non-GAAP financial measures but urged companies to continue their improvement efforts.3

Non-GAAP measures that are transparent, calculated consistently, and comparable to measures disclosed by other companies can help provide users with useful information.⁴ Consistent with its mission to convene and collaborate with stakeholders to advance the discussion of critical issues, the Center for Audit Quality (CAQ) has fostered dialogue around this critical topic.⁵ This publication summarizes common themes that emerged from a series of 2017 roundtable discussions regarding the presentation and use of non-GAAP measures—and the opportunities to enhance trust and confidence in this information.

GAAP, Non-GAAP, and KPIs: Distinctions That Matter

In this publication, we will use the term non-GAAP measures to refer to both non-GAAP financial measures as defined by the SEC and key performance indicators (KPIs) collectively. KPIs can be data points—such as number of stores or customers—or metrics calculated using GAAP amounts and a data point, such as sales per square foot.

The distinctions among GAAP measures, non-GAAP financial measures, and KPIs are important because each type has a different level of subjectivity, and different rules govern each type of measure.

While KPIs are not considered non-GAAP financial measures and are not directly subject to the rules and interpretations discussed in this report, SEC staff has indicated that companies should provide certain disclosures about them, many of which are similar to those a company would provide for non-GAAP financial measures.

We hope that the following "roadmap" will support audit committees in advancing their oversight of and involvement with non-GAAP measures. We also hope that enhancing audit committee oversight and involvement will lead to more transparency and consistency and that it will promote a greater understanding of all stakeholders' roles relative to non-GAAP measures.

¹ In May 2016, the SEC staff updated its compliance and disclosure interpretations (C&DIs).

² SEC Item 10(e)(2) of Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. 229.10(e)(2) and Item 101 of Regulation G, 17 C.F.R. 244.101 define a non-GAAP financial measure as a numerical measure of a registrant's historical or future financial performance, financial position, or cash flow that (1) excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts, that are included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP in the statement of including amounts, that are excluded from the most directly comparable measure so calculated and presented. The SEC rules applicable to non-GAAP disclosures include Regulation G and Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K.

³ BDO Center for Corporate Governance and Financial Reporting, 2017 Audit Committee Round-Up; Focal Points, Tools & Resources, 14.

⁴ In June 2016, the CAQ released Questions on Non-GAAP Measures: A Tool for Audit Committees.

⁵ In December 2016, the CAQ released Non-GAAP Financial Measures: Continuing the Conversation.

Key Themes from the CAQ's 2017 Roundtables

In 2017, the CAQ hosted three roundtable discussions to explore the perspectives of various stakeholders on non-GAAP financial measures. While the focus of the roundtables were those metrics that meet the SEC's definition of a non-GAAP financial measure, attendees also discussed similar concepts related to KPIs.⁶

Each roundtable was attended by approximately 20 to 25 individuals including audit committee members, management, investors, securities lawyers, and public company auditors.⁷ Because the presentation and use of non-GAAP measures can vary from industry to industry, each roundtable focused on a specific industry: pharmaceutical, real estate, and technology. This format acknowledged that different non-GAAP measures are more prevalent or meaningful depending on the industry.

With a variety of stakeholders present—including those who prepare, oversee, and use non-GAAP measures—the roundtables explored:

- ▶ why management discloses non-GAAP measures;
- how management approaches preparing and presenting non-GAAP measures;
- how audit committees oversee that process;
- how investors and others use non-GAAP measures; and
- what, if anything, could be done to enhance trust and confidence in non-GAAP measures.

From these roundtables, broad, shared themes coalesced regarding why the information is presented and how non-GAAP measures are used. It was clear that audit committees across sectors engage in discussions about non-GAAP measures with company management and, to some extent, with their external auditors. More importantly, the challenges non-GAAP measures present—and the opportunities for ways to approach improving trust and confidence in these measures—were also consistent across industries.

WHY COMPANIES PRESENT NON-GAAP MEASURES

Participants were asked to share their views on what drives the presentation and use of non-GAAP measures. Although participants cited a variety of drivers for presenting and using non-GAAP measures, common themes emerged from the discussion:

- Demand from investment analysts: Participants shared that requests from investment analysts are often a primary reason company management chooses to present a non-GAAP measure. Investment analysts find that non-GAAP measures help them better understand the company's underlying business performance or forecast the company's long-term value in their proprietary models.
- Desire to tell the company's story: Participants also acknowledged, however, that company management does not present non-GAAP measures solely for investment analysts; rather, management views the use of non-GAAP measures as a tool to help tell a

⁶ See CAQ, Questions on Non-GAAP Measures: A Tool for Audit Committees, 12, and CAQ, Non-GAAP Financial Measures: Continuing the Conversation for a discussion of GAAP, non-GAAP, and KPIs.

⁷ See the appendix for a list of participants at each roundtable.

company's story and provide users of the information with insight into how management evaluates company performance internally. In some cases, non-GAAP measures are also an input into how the company compensates employees for company performance.

WHY GAAP IS A BASELINE

Roundtable participants discussed whether the presentation and the use of non-GAAP measures are an indication that changes should be made to GAAP. The following were key points of agreement:

- Participants shared that while they find non-GAAP measures to be useful, they still view the GAAP information as the "bedrock" or "starting point" for the financial information that companies present. GAAP, they said, provides a useful baseline that offers comparability from one company to the next.
- Some participants expressed their belief that some improvements in GAAP reporting could reduce the number of non-GAAP measures companies present.

CHALLENGES RELATED TO NON-GAAP MEASURES

Participants acknowledged that non-GAAP measures present challenges to certain stakeholders in the financial reporting supply chain.

- Investors are challenged by the lack of consistency in the calculation of non-GAAP measures from one company to the next; such irregularity makes it difficult for non-GAAP measures to be compared across companies—even within the same industry. It also can be a challenge for end-users to know whether the performance reported by the press is a GAAP measure or a non-GAAP measure.
- ► Management representatives indicated that they spend a significant amount of time (1) discussing what information to include in or exclude from non-GAAP measures they present, and (2) making sure the information is presented fairly and disclosed transparently.
- > Audit committees noted that their challenges related

Participants shared that while they find non-GAAP measures to be useful, they still view the GAAP information as the "bedrock" or "starting point" for the financial information that companies present.

to non-GAAP measures tend to be an extension of management's challenges. Audit committees want to understand the reason the company is presenting the measure, and the roles and responsibilities of those involved with the information, including company personnel (e.g., finance and internal audit) and the external auditor. Further, they want to know how the company's non-GAAP measures compare with the information presented by peer companies.

Participants also noted that some companies use non-GAAP measures as an input into determining incentive compensation. In these instances, it is even more important that audit committees or compensation committees be closely involved with non-GAAP measures to mitigate potential risks related to the metrics that affect compensation.

STANDARDIZATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES

Currently, the real estate industry makes use of a supplemental standardized non-GAAP measure: funds from operations (FFO). The FFO measure, which was defined by Nareit,⁸ is in widespread use and is recognized by the SEC.⁹ Nevertheless, representatives from management in all roundtables indicated that standardization may limit their ability to tell their companies' story, and there did not seem to be strong support for standardization from other sectors, although the real estate investment trust (REIT) industry has benefited from standardizing certain measures. While investors would like more consistency from company to company, they noted that they

⁸ Nareit is the worldwide representative voice for REITs and for publicly traded real estate companies with an interest in US real estate and capital markets.

⁹ The SEC has recognized Nareit FFO as a standardized non-GAAP measure for the real estate industry in footnote 50 to the Exchange Act Release No. 47226, Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures. The SEC reaffirmed this position in Question 102.01 of SEC Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations on non-GAAP measures.

recognize that standardization is likely not possible and advocated for more transparent disclosure instead of standardization.

IMPORTANCE OF NON-GAAP AS A COMMUNICATION TOOL

Participants shared that management uses non-GAAP measures as a form of communication. These measures often help companies communicate their overall company strategy. Participants noted that company management does not want to be misleading in its communications and would not want its presentation of non-GAAP measures to give the appearance of "cherry picking" or "earnings management." Consequently, company management spends a significant amount of time discussing, among themselves and with the audit committee non-GAAP measures that are being presented by the company; in some cases, management spends more time discussing non-GAAP measures than GAAP measures. Several

There was consensus among participants that audit committees can promote rigor related to non-GAAP measures by having a dialogue with company management as well as internal and external auditors.

company management representatives noted that they had set up policies, procedures, and controls to support preparing and presenting non-GAAP measures.

Some participants acknowledged that companies present certain non-GAAP measures because investment analysts ask for them or because investment analysts covering that industry have general expectations that they will be presented. However, other participants noted they had stopped presenting certain expected metrics or adjustments because they do not believe those metrics or adjustments reflect how they evaluate their company's performance. In these instances, company management communicated its rationale for no longer including the information, and subsequently ceased to present that non-GAAP measure or adjustment after a certain number of periods. Participants noted that because of the upfront dialogue between company management and investment analysts, these changes did not affect the investment analysts' assessment of the company.

ADDRESSING JUDGMENT THROUGH DIALOGUE

Participants emphasized the significant judgment involved in determining how to treat a one-time transaction or event in non-GAAP measures, and they

agreed that company management and audit committees strive to execute good judgment when making these decisions. To that end, many companies have enhanced the rigor of their presentation and disclosure of these metrics.

There was consensus among participants that audit committees can promote rigor related to non-GAAP measures by having a dialogue with company management as well as internal and external auditors. The purpose of this dialogue would be for the audit committee to set clear expectations regarding the roles and responsibilities-relative to non-GAAP measures-of each member of the financial reporting supply chain. Many of the overarching principles related to the importance of

policies, controls, and enhanced oversight by the audit committee apply to non-GAAP measures.

RECOGNIZING THE VITAL ROLE OF AUDIT COMMITTEE OVERSIGHT

The roundtables made apparent that despite the difficulties that non-GAAP measures can create, the benefits of presenting this information far exceed these challenges. Representatives from management unanimously recognized the benefits of increased audit committee oversight and involvement with non-GAAP measures. There was also agreement that a non-GAAP measure that meets the following criteria (in addition to the requirements in applicable SEC rules) is generally useful:

- ▶ It is calculated and presented consistently.
- ▶ It is transparently disclosed.
- It is comparable to measures disclosed by other companies.

A Non-GAAP Roadmap for Audit Committees

The audit committee has an important responsibility on behalf of company shareholders to oversee the financial reporting process and external audit. Given its role, the audit committee can act as a bridge between management and investors, and it can assess management's reasons for presenting non-GAAP measures and evaluate the sufficiency of the related disclosures. The audit committee can determine whether the measures present a fair and balanced view of the company's performance.

IDENTIFY KEY DISCUSSION TOPICS

Discussions between management and the audit committee could result in the audit committee being more confident that non-GAAP measures present a balanced representation of the company's performance. An audit committee may consider a possible roadmap of topics for discussion, including the following:

- Putting itself in the investors' shoes when evaluating if the presented non-GAAP measures and related disclosures align with the company's overall strategy and performance.
- Engaging with investors directly or through investor relations to ensure that the presented non-GAAP measures aid investors' understanding of the company's performance.
- Asking management whether it has an internal policy that provides guidelines for determining how non-GAAP measures are generated, calculated, and presented, including the rationale for the measures and adjustments that it presents and excludes. If there is no policy, encourage management to create one.
- Discussing with management how the company makes changes to non-GAAP measures it presents, and the rationale for why it would or would not make changes.

- Seeking the perspective of counsel on non-GAAP measures.
- Asking the company to compare or benchmark its non-GAAP measures to those of its peers.
- Finding out what disclosure controls and procedures are in place as they relate to the information that is presented and disclosed.
- Asking the external auditors what their responsibilities are for non-GAAP measures, and whether that responsibility is different depending on where non-GAAP measures are presented.
- Asking the external auditors for perspectives on how non-GAAP measures that the company presents generally compare with those of other companies.
- Discussing with the external auditors what their views are on the company's non-GAAP measures, including whether the measures are consistent with the auditors' understanding and knowledge of the company's performance.

UNDERSTAND THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S ROLE REGARDING NON-GAAP MEASURES

The external auditor's opinions on the company's financial statements and, when required, the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) do not cover non-GAAP measures. Non-GAAP measures are often included in other areas of a company's annual and quarterly reports that contain the financial statements. If that is the case, the professional auditing standards indicate that the auditor should read non-GAAP measures presented in certain documents containing the financial statements (such as annual and quarterly reports) and consider whether non-GAAP measures or

the manner of their presentation is materially inconsistent with information appearing in the financial statements or a material misstatement of fact.¹⁰

Though external auditors do not audit non-GAAP measures as part of the financial statement or ICFR audits, audit committees and management may consider leveraging the external auditors as a resource when evaluating non-GAAP measures. Separate from the financial statement and ICFR audits, external auditors may be engaged to perform certain procedures related to non-GAAP measures. Although the procedures the external auditor can perform for non-GAAP measures are limited, they could include testing certain controls related to the preparation and disclosure of non-GAAP measures in accordance with the company's policies, and reporting results to the audit committee. External auditors may be able to address audit committees' concerns related to non-GAAP measures and to increase the trust and confidence in those measures

ADOPT LEADING PRACTICES

Discussions at each roundtable highlighted some leading practices that several companies have instituted to support the presentation of high-quality non-GAAP measures (that is, those that represent a balanced view of the company's performance):

Disclosure controls: Participants generally agreed that non-GAAP measures should be subject to robust disclosure controls. Establishing disclosure controls specific to non-GAAP measures could enable companies to mitigate risks and support sound decision making about their reporting. The disclosure controls should be documented and robust enough to facilitate testing of the controls. Participants emphasized that such disclosure controls could drive more consistency and transparency into preparation and presentation of non-GAAP measures.

► Non-GAAP policies: Management representatives shared that they have established policies that provide a set of guidelines to follow when preparing and presenting non-GAAP measures. These policies can help in making decisions on the treatment of new transactions or events within non-GAAP measures that the company presents. Also, having policies in place can help promote consistency in the measures that are presented and the way they are calculated. While not all companies have the same policies, participants Although the procedures the external auditor can perform for non-GAAP measures are limited, they could include testing certain controls related to the preparation and disclosure of non-GAAP measures in accordance with the company's policies, and reporting results to the audit committee.

cited having non-GAAP policies as a valuable tool to ground discussions and decisions related to non-GAAP measures.

► Audit committee disclosure: Few, if any, companies currently disclose their non-GAAP policies. There was no consensus regarding whether disclosure of the company's non-GAAP policies-or simply disclosing that the company has a non-GAAP policy—would be a good practice. However, given the current regulatory environment and the fact that non-GAAP measures are important to investors and are central to their decision making, there could be benefits to an audit committee voluntarily disclosing that the company has non-GAAP policies (but not necessarily the relevant details of those policies). Such disclosure could demonstrate to investors the importance of this information to the audit committee and that policies are in place to support the metrics being consistent, transparent, and comparable.

¹⁰ See PCAOB Auditing Standard 2710: Other Information in Documents Containing Audited Financial Statements.

Conclusion

By sharing the themes learned from our non-GAAP roundtables, the CAQ aims to share leading practices and to provide a roadmap to audit committees that will enhance their oversight of and involvement with non-GAAP measures.

While there is no one-size-fits-all approach to improving or maintaining trust and confidence in non-GAAP measures, audit committees nevertheless have an important role to play. Through oversight and ongoing dialogue with other key stakeholders, audit committees can set expectations regarding the roles and responsibilities of management and others as they relate to non-GAAP measures. When circumstances warrant, to increase confidence in non-GAAP measures, audit committees may engage external auditors to perform certain procedures related to these measures. For example, audit committees may have an appetite for increased auditor engagement with non-GAAP measures when they affect compensation; in other instances, audit committees may simply ask their auditors for perspective. The roundtables have reinforced the CAQ's view that non-GAAP measures that are presented in compliance with the applicable SEC rules and that are transparent, calculated consistently, and comparable across companies can help investors and other users understand a company's results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. Greater awareness and discussion of non-GAAP measures by audit committees will contribute to highquality reporting that meets the needs of its users.

All stakeholders in the financial reporting process can benefit from understanding how companies approach the preparation and presentation of non-GAAP measures and the external auditor's responsibility related to that information. The CAQ looks forward to continuing to monitor and engage on this important topic with our members in the public company auditing profession and with the multitude of stakeholders who have graciously shared their valuable experience and insight at these roundtables.

7

Appendix: Roundtable Participants

The CAQ would like to extend a special thank you to **Keith Higgins**, Chair of the Securities and Governance Practice at Ropes & Gray LLP, who served as the moderator for each roundtable and whose counsel and assistance was instrumental to the success of this effort.

The CAQ would like to thank the following individuals who generously shared their time and insight.

Chris Alabi Professional Practice Fellow Center for Audit Quality

Cheemin Bo-Linn Independent Director & Audit Committee Chair Sphere 3D Corp.

Frank Brod Corporate Vice President of Finance & Administration and Chief Accounting Officer Microsoft Corporation

Dora Burzenski *Member* AICPA Auditing Standards Board

Sriprasadh Cadambi Partner KPMG LLP

Amanda Callaway SVP and Chief Accounting Officer Healthcare Realty Trust

Brian Cassidy Senior Manager Deloitte & Touche LLP

Ron Codd Independent Director and Audit Committee Member FireEye, Inc.; ServiceNow, Inc.; and Veeva Systems, Inc. Jean Compeau SVP, Corporate Controller Palo Alto Networks

Alison Davis Independent Director & Audit Committee Member Unisys; Ooma; Fiserv; and RBS

Kris Douglas Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer Healthcare Realty Trust

Mark Drozdowski Partner and National Audit Leader for Life Sciences KPMG LLP

Christopher Drula Vice President, Financial Standards Nareit

Erin Dwyer Managing Director of Stakeholder Engagement Center for Audit Quality

Sam Eldessouky SVP, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. **Cindy Fornelli** *Executive Director* Center for Audit Quality

Merrie Frankel Independent Director & Audit Committee Member Agree Realty Corporation

Irving Gomez Assistant Corporate Secretary and Managing Counsel Intel Corporation

John Gottfried *Chief Financial Officer* Acadia Realty Trust

Gary Hansen SVP & Controller – Alexander's, Inc. and VCP Fund Vornado Realty Trust

Kevin Healy U.S. Technology, Media, and Telecom Assurance Leader PwC

Patrick Higgins Partner PwC

Michele Hooper Independent Director and Audit Committee Member UnitedHealth Group Catherine Ide Managing Director of Professional Practice and Member Services Center for Audit Quality

Lawrence Jones Independent Director and Audit Committee Chair Cole Credit Property Trust

Rita Karachun Principal Accounting Officer, SVP of Finance, and Global Controller Merck & Co, Inc.

Chris Kennedy SVP – SEC Reporting and Corporate Accounting Vornado Realty Trust

Robert Labenski Partner KPMG LLP

Brandon Landas National Assurance Partner BDO USA LLP

Frank Mahoney Americas Assurance Vice Chair EY

Christy McElroy Director & REIT Analyst Citigroup

8

Dennis McGowan Technical Director of Professional Practice Center for Audit Quality

Mark Miskinis Partner Deloitte & Touche LLP

John Murphy SVP, Chief Accounting Officer & Corporate Controller Adobe

Ravi Narula *Chief Financial Officer* Ooma

Charles Noski Independent Director and Audit Committee Chair Microsoft Corporation and The Priceline Group Inc.

Robert Owens Vice President, Chief Accountant Bristol-Myers Squibb

Josh Paul Director of Accounting Alphabet

Walter Pritchard Managing Director Citi

David Risinger *Managing Director* Morgan Stanley

Sam Roberts Financial Reporting Controller Intel Corporation

Mike Santay *Chair* AICPA Auditing Standards Board Kimberly Scardino SVP, Global Controller, and Chief Accounting Officer Walgreens Boots Alliance

Dusty Schultz *Audit & Assurance Partner* Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atish Shah Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer Xenia Hotels & Resorts, Inc.

Brian Sigman Chief Financial Officer Angelo Gordon Investment Trust Inc.

Bruce Sullivan *Audit Committee Chair* Healthcare Realty Trust

Dave Sullivan National Managing Partner, Quality and Professional Practice Deloitte & Touche LLP

Gerald I. White *President* Grace & White, Inc.

John White Partner Cravath, Swaine & Moore

Tom Wilkin *U.S. REIT Leader* PwC

Serena Wolfe Partner, Global RHC Assurance Leader EY

Donald Zakrowski Vice President-Finance and Chief Accounting Officer Eli Lilly and Company



WE WELCOME YOUR FEEDBACK | Please send comments or questions to info@thecaq.org.